ResearchGate

See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/11963849

Successful Weight Loss Maintenance

Article in Annual Review of Nutrition · February 2001

DOI: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.21.1.323 · Source: PubMed

CITATIONS

READS

943

2.426

2 authors, including:



James O Hill University of Colorado

543 PUBLICATIONS 31,582 CITATIONS

SEE PROFILE

Successful Weight Loss Maintenance

Rena R Wing¹ and James O Hill²

¹The Miriam Hospital, Brown University, Providence, Rhode Island 02906, and ²Center for Human Nutrition, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center, Denver, Colorado 80262; e-mail: Rwing@Lifespan.org, James.Hill@uchsc.edu

Key Words reduced-obese, obesity treatment, diet, exercise, obesity

■ Abstract Obesity is now recognized as a serious chronic disease, but there is pessimism about how successful treatment can be. A general perception is that almost no one succeeds in long-term maintenance of weight loss. To define long-term weight loss success, we need an accepted definition. We propose defining successful long-term weight loss maintenance as intentionally losing at least 10% of initial body weight and keeping it off for at least 1 year. According to this definition, the picture is much more optimistic, with perhaps greater than 20% of overweight/obese persons able to achieve success. We found that in the National Weight Control Registry, successful long-term weight loss maintainers (average weight loss of 30 kg for an average of 5.5 years) share common behavioral strategies, including eating a diet low in fat, frequent selfmonitoring of body weight and food intake, and high levels of regular physical activity. Weight loss maintenance may get easier over time. Once these successful maintainers have maintained a weight loss for 2–5 years, the chances of longer-term success greatly increase.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	324
PREVALENCE OF WEIGHT LOSS MAINTENANCE	324
HOW TO DEFINE SUCCESS IN WEIGHT LOSS MAINTENANCE?	325
THE NATIONAL WEIGHT CONTROL REGISTRY	326
STRATEGIES FOR MAINTENANCE OF WEIGHT LOSS	327
Diet	327
Self-Monitoring Weight and Behaviors Related to Weight	328
Physical Activity	329
METABOLIC AND BEHAVIORAL FACTORS IN	
WEIGHT LOSS MAINTENANCE	330
The Metabolic State of the Reduced-Obese	330
The Metabolic State of NWCR Subjects	333
Behavioral Factors in Long-Term Weight Loss Maintenance	333
PSYCHOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES OF SUCCESSFUL	
WEIGHT LOSS MAINTENANCE	334

FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH WEIGHT REGAIN	336
SUMMARY	337

INTRODUCTION

Obesity is a major health problem in the United States, with over 50% of Americans classified as overweight or obese. Many of these individuals are attempting to lose weight (39). However, the perception of the general public is that long-term reduction in body weight is difficult to achieve. The goal of this chapter is to summarize the information available on successful weight loss maintenance. How many achieve this goal? How do they do it? What are the consequences? In describing successful weight loss maintainers, we draw heavily on findings from the National Weight Control Registry (NWCR), a registry of individuals who have been extremely successful at long-term weight loss maintenance.

PREVALENCE OF WEIGHT LOSS MAINTENANCE

Currently, few data are available on the prevalence of successful weight loss maintenance. One limit is the lack of a consistent criterion to define "success" and another is the difficulty of distinguishing intentional from unintentional weight loss. We therefore propose to define success in weight loss maintenance as achieving an intentional weight loss of at least 10% of initial body weight and maintaining this weight loss for at least one year. We could not find sufficient data, collected in a systematic fashion, to provide reliable information on predictors of weight loss for longer periods.

Overall there is a feeling of pessimism regarding long-term weight loss success (18). This pessimism started with a study by Stunkard & McLaren-Hume (42), who followed 100 obese individuals referred to a nutritional weight loss program and found that 2 years after treatment, only 2% maintained a weight loss of at least 20 lb. This finding was instrumental in creating the perception, perpetuated in the popular media, that hardly anyone succeeds in long-term maintenance of weight loss.

Recent studies of clinical programs are more positive. Every year for 4 years, Kramer et al (24) followed up on 114 men and 38 women who had participated in a behavioral weight loss program. Using a strict criterion of maintaining 100% of one's weight loss, they found that only 0.9% of men and 5.3% of women were consistently successful (i.e. maintaining this criterion all of the 4 years). However, looking only at year 4, cross-sectional data showed that 2.6% of men and 28.9% of women had maintained 100% of their weight loss. Several studies have used 5 kg or greater weight loss as a criterion of success. With this criterion, 13% (51) to 22% (41) of participants are successful 5 years after treatment.

These studies may underestimate the true prevalence of weight loss maintenance because they are based on only one episode of weight loss and may not be representative of the general population. Most people who lose weight do so on their own, without participation in formal programs (5, 6); thus, data from clinical research programs may reflect "hard core" dieters, who may be most resistant to successful weight loss maintenance. Bartlett et al (4) reviewed eight studies that examined the prevalence of successful weight loss in community samples; they were unable to reach conclusions regarding prevalence because these studies lacked consistent definitions of successful weight loss and many failed to use nationally representative samples. Moreover, most of the studies assessed weight loss, not weight loss maintenance.

McGuire et al (27) recently reported results of a random-digit-dial telephone survey in a nationally representative sample of 500 adults in the United States. Weight loss maintainers were defined as those who at the time of the survey had maintained a weight loss of \geq 10% of their maximum weight for at least 1 year. Of particular interest are those who reported being overweight [body mass index (BMI) \geq 27 kg/m²] at their maximum weight (N=228). Of these, 62% indicated that at some point in their life they had lost 10% of their maximum weight, and 38% reported that they were currently 10% below their maximum weight. Of the 228 reporting having been overweight, 69 (30.3%) had maintained this 10% weight loss for at least 1 year. These 69 individuals had on average maintained a weight loss of 42 lb for 7 years.

This survey included a question about whether the weight loss was intentional. Of the 228 overweight individuals in the survey, 47 (20.6%) reported that they had intentionally lost weight and had maintained a weight loss of 10% for at least 1 year. Of these individuals, 28 had reduced to normal weight (BMI < 27).

HOW TO DEFINE SUCCESS IN WEIGHT LOSS MAINTENANCE?

It is important to adopt a consistent definition of successful weight loss maintenance. The definition must include criterion for magnitude of weight loss and duration of maintenance. Weight losses of 5%–10% of initial body weight can lead to substantial improvement in risk factors for diabetes and heart disease and can lead to reductions in or discontinuations of medications for these conditions (31). Thus, if the focus is on overall health, achieving and maintaining a 10% weight loss should be considered successful, even though for many obese individuals this weight loss may not return them to a nonobese state. Successful weight loss maintenance may involve some weight regain. For example, an individual who lost 20% of initial body weight but regained half of the lost weight would still be 10% below initial body weight, would presumably still have overall improved health, and thus should be considered "successful."

In defining successful weight loss, it is important that the loss be intentional. Several recent studies suggest that unintentional weight loss occurs frequently in the population. Because the causes and consequences of unintentional weight loss

are likely to differ from those associated with intentional weight loss, it is important to distinguish between the two.

Finally, we propose that 1 year of maintenance be the minimum criterion, in keeping with the Institute of Medicine (IOM) definition. A 5-year duration might be a stricter criterion, but we believe research would be stimulated by first adopting the 1-year criterion and then studying the factors that help those individuals who have succeeded for 1 year sustain their success through 5 years.

Thus, we propose that individuals who have intentionally lost at least 10% of their body weight and have kept it off at least 1 year be considered "successful weight loss maintainers." By this definition, according to our data, 21% of overweight/obese persons may be successes.

THE NATIONAL WEIGHT CONTROL REGISTRY

Much of the information about successful weight loss maintenance comes from the National Weight Control Registry (NWCR), founded in 1994 to study weight loss and weight maintenance strategies of successful weight loss maintainers. To be eligible for the NWCR, individuals must have maintained at least a 30-lb weight loss for at least 1 year. On recruitment, all subjects sign an informed consent form and then are sent several questionnaires to complete. These questionnaires seek information about weight loss and weight maintenance behaviors, as well as weight history, quality of life, and demographic information. All participants are asked to complete additional follow-up questionnaires on an annual basis.

There are currently over 3000 subjects in the NWCR. They average 45 years of age and are 80% women, 97% Caucasian, and 67% married. The average weight loss reported by NWCR participants is 30 kg, and the average duration of weight maintenance is 5.5 years. These subjects maintain a body weight that is, on average, 10 BMI units lower than their pre—weight loss BMI (from 35–25 kg/m²).

About half (46%) of NWCR subjects report having been overweight as children. Many report a strong family history of obesity, with 46% reporting one parent as overweight or obese and 27% reporting both parents as overweight or obese.

Almost all NWCR subjects (90%) have experienced previous unsuccessful attempts at weight loss. No obvious factor or factors distinguish this successful weight loss from previous failures other than registry participants noting a greater commitment, stricter dieting, and a greater role of exercise.

Clearly, a negative energy balance is needed to produce weight loss. A negative energy balance can be achieved by either decreasing intake or increasing expenditure. Research studies consistently show that successful weight loss maintainers change both their intake and their expenditure in order to lose weight and maintain their losses. In the NWCR, 89% of participants reported modifying both diet and exercise to achieve their successful weight loss (22). In subjects who reported modifying food intake to lose weight, the most commonly reported methods were restricting intake of certain types or classes of foods (88%), limiting quantity

(44%), and counting calories (44%). However, there was marked variability in how they made these changes. About half of the registry participants (45%), but 63% of the men, reported losing on their own whereas the remainder of the registrants (55%), and 60% of the women, used a formal (e.g. commercial) weight loss program (22).

Although most health professionals recommend changes in both diet and physical activity for weight loss, many popular weight loss plans emphasize diet more than physical activity. It is worth noting that very few of these successful weight loss maintainers used diet alone to lose weight.

STRATEGIES FOR MAINTENANCE OF WEIGHT LOSS

Although the approaches to weight loss differed widely among NWCR subjects, we found much more similarity in the strategies used for maintenance of weight loss. The three strategies that were common to a large proportion of NWCR participants include (a) eating a diet low in fat and high in carbohydrate, (b) frequent self-monitoring, and (c) regular physical activity.

Diet

To determine current dietary intake, registry members were asked on entry into the registry to complete the Block Food Frequency questionnaire. On average, participants reported consuming 1381 kcal/day (5778 \pm 2200 kJ/day), with 24% of calories from fat, 19% from protein, and 56% from carbohydrates (22). There were no differences in the quality of the diet reported by participants who lost weight on their own compared with those who used weight loss programs (40). Both groups ate a diet that satisfied the Daily Reference Intakes for calcium, vitamin C, vitamin A, and vitamin E.

Recently, because some popular diets recommend restricting carbohydrates to lose weight, data from registry participants were analyzed to determine carbohydrate intake (57). Only 7.6% of registry members reported eating fewer than 90 g of carbohydrate/day; for many of these individuals, total daily energy intake appeared unreasonably low. Additional analyses were done to determine the proportion of subjects eating diets with <24% carbohydrates (1500 calories/≤90 g of carbohydrate). Less than 1% of registry participants consumed such low-carbohydrate diets. Compared with registry members who had higher carbohydrate intake, those ingesting <24% carbohydrates maintained their weight loss for less time and were less physically active. Thus, the low-fat, high-carbohydrate, low-calorie–eating pattern appears to be what characterizes the majority of registry participants.

Registry members reported eating on average 4.87 meals or snacks/day, with few eating less often than twice a day (22). On average, they ate at fast food restaurants approximately once a week (0.74 times/week) and had 2.5 meals/week in other types of restaurants. Thus, although the majority of meals were eaten

at home, these individuals maintained their weight loss while enjoying meals at restaurants.

As part of the random-digit-dialing survey described above, successful weight loss maintainers (those who intentionally lost $\geq 10\%$ of their maximum weight and maintained it for at least 1 year) were compared with regainers (those who lost at least 10% of their body weight but gained it back) and controls (those whose weight had never been $\geq 10\%$ above their current level and who were weight stable) (29). These individuals were all asked to complete the Food Habits Questionnaire. This questionnaire examines strategies used to restrict fat intake and has been shown to relate to fat intake. Weight loss maintainers reported greater avoidance of fried foods and more substitution of low-fat for high-fat foods than either regainers or controls. Again, these findings suggest the importance of low-fat eating in the maintenance of weight loss.

Other studies have shown that successful weight loss maintenance is associated with changes in both the quantity and quality of foods consumed. Clinic-based studies have examined the association between self-reported dietary intake and weight loss after either 12 or 18 months of treatment. These studies indicate that individuals who are most successful at weight loss maintenance report lower caloric intake (19), reduced portion sizes (17), reduced frequency of snacks, and, perhaps most consistently, reduction in the percentage of calories from fat (11, 55).

Several studies have identified decreased consumption of specific foods as being associated with weight loss maintenance. French et al (8) found that decreased consumption of french fries, dairy products, sweets, and meat was positively associated with weight loss maintenance. Holden et al (15) present data on 118 patients who were followed for 3 years after ending a very-low-calorie diet. Those who reported that they consumed cheese, butter, high-fat snacks, fried foods, and desserts less than once a week were more successful at long-term weight control. Eating "healthy" foods at least once/week was unrelated to weight loss.

Self-Monitoring Weight and Behaviors Related to Weight

Registry members were asked how frequently they monitored their weight. Over 44% reported weighing themselves at least once a day, and 31% reported weighing themselves at least once a week (22). Few other studies have examined weighing as a component of long-term weight loss maintenance. However, monitoring dietary intake is frequently associated with weight loss success. Guare et al (10) completed a 1-year follow-up on 106 participants in behavioral weight loss programs. Those participants who at 1 year most frequently monitored their intake maintained a weight loss of 18 kg compared with the approximately 5-kg weight loss maintained by those who monitored their intake less often. Other studies have likewise found that consistent self-monitoring is related to weight loss (3). This is not surprising. Frequent monitoring of weight allows one to detect weight regain in its early stages and to initiate strategies to reverse the trend and avoid a major relapse.

Self-monitoring may be viewed as one component of the more general construct of cognitive restraint (i.e. the degree of conscious control one exerts over eating behaviors). On the Three Factor Eating Scale, registry members report high levels of dietary restraint (mean = 7.1), similar to the levels reported by patients who have recently completed treatment for obesity, though not nearly as high as the levels seen in eating-disordered patients (23). These data suggest that successful maintainers continue long-term to use behavior-change strategies taught in weight loss programs. However, why some individuals can persist in conscious control of intake whereas others revert back to old habits is unclear.

Physical Activity

Regular physical activity has been found in many studies to be associated with long-term weight loss maintenance (20, 37). Most subjects in the NWCR report engaging in regular physical activity to lose weight as well as to maintain the weight loss. Only 9% of registry subjects report maintaining weight loss without regular physical activity. Using the Paffenbarger Physical Activity Questionnaire (33), we determined current levels of physical activity. Women in the registry report expending an average of 2545 kcal on physical activity per week and men report an average of 3293 kcal/week. This amount of physical activity is comparable to about 1 h of moderate intensity physical activity, such as brisk walking, per day. This is much higher than physical activity recommendations for the general public. The Surgeon General recommends that adults engage in 30 min of moderate intensity physical activity at least 3 days/week (46). Among registry subjects, 52% expend more than 1000 kcal and 72% more than 2000 kcal on physical activity per week.

Physical activity experts now recommend that rather than only planned exercise, people increase "lifestyle physical activity," which involves being more active in daily life (e.g. increase walking, taking stairs, etc) (46). Most registry subjects report efforts to increase both lifestyle activity and regular planned exercise. As noted above, only 9% report that they do no physical activity for weight loss maintenance. Among registry members, 49% report using a combination of walking and another form of regular exercise, 28% report only walking, and 14% report only another form of regular exercise. Thus, the combination of lifestyle and programmed exercise is used by almost half the participants, and walking is an important aspect of the exercise for over 75%.

Table 1 shows the six most frequently reported physical activities of subjects in the registry (45). It is interesting that a high proportion of subjects report weight lifting. In the registry, 24% of men and 20% of women regularly engage in weight lifting. A representative national population, the National Health Interview Survey, conducted in 1991, reported that 20% of men but only 9% of women regularly engage in weight lifting. Thus, women in the registry engage in weight lifting to a much greater extent than do women in the general population. The extent to which this contributes to their success in weight loss maintenance is not clear.

Activity	% Reporting engaging in activity
National We	eight Control Registry subjects
IADLE	The six most common activities reported by

Activity	% Reporting eng	aging in activity
Walking	76.6	
Cycling	20.6	
Weight lifting	20.3	
Aerobics	17.8	
Running	10.5	
Stair climbing	9.3	

METABOLIC AND BEHAVIORAL FACTORS IN WEIGHT LOSS MAINTENANCE

It is not clear to what extent metabolic versus behavioral factors contribute to the low success rate in long-term weight loss maintenance. It could be that there is a physiological set-point for weight and that reducing weight below this level leads to physiological compensation. Alternatively, the difficulty in maintaining a weight loss could be due to the difficulty in making permanent changes in diet and physical activity behaviors.

The Metabolic State of the Reduced-Obese

The difficulty in long-term weight maintenance could have metabolic causes. It is possible that weight loss creates a metabolic state favoring weight regain in order to return body weight to some optimal or regulated level. This metabolic state could be due to one or more of the following causes: (a) a resting metabolic rate lower than expected for the new, lower body weight; (b) a reduced ability to oxidize fat, thus favoring positive fat balance and fat gain; (c) increased insulin sensitivity; and/or (d) relatively low leptin levels.

Low Resting Metabolic Rate in the Reduced-Obese State Resting metabolic rate (RMR) declines with weight loss, but the question is whether this decline leaves the reduced-obese with an inappropriately low RMR or whether the decline in RMR is appropriate for the new, lower body mass. During the acute phase of weight loss, RMR appears to decline because of both food restriction and loss of body mass (35, 50). This is why is it important to measure RMR after a period of weight stabilization following weight loss. In the long-term, the decline in RMR would be expected to be proportional to the decline in fat-free mass (FFM) because fat loss produces only very small declines in RMR (35).

Some reports indicate that RMR declines with weight loss to a much greater extent than the decline in FFM, whereas other reports indicate that the decline

in RMR with weight loss is appropriate for the reduction of FFM. In favor of a greater-than-expected drop in RMR with weight loss, Leibel et al (26) reported a reduction in resting metabolic rate of 12.6–16.7 kJ/kg of FFM lost in obese subjects maintaining a 10% reduction in body weight. Others (9, 38, 50) have found that the reduction in RMR with weight loss, over the long-term, is appropriate for the reduction in body mass. Astrup et al (2) recently published a meta-analysis of RMR in reduced-obese subjects. They reviewed 12 published studies and obtained individual data on 124 reduced-obese subjects and 121 control subjects from 15 different published studies. Using traditional meta-analysis, they found that RMR was about 5% lower in reduced-obese subjects than in control subjects. However, the more interesting analysis was a comparison of the 124 reduced-obese with the 121 control subjects. In this comparison, RMR was not significantly lower in the reduced-obese (P < 0.09). Furthermore, the 3%-5% reduction in RMR seen in the reduced-obese group was explained entirely by 15% of the reducedobese subjects. They suggested that although a low RMR might characterize some reduced-obese subjects, this is not the norm.

We examined RMR in relation to FFM in 50 NWCR subjects and in 50 matched control subjects (56). In both groups, RMR was appropriate for body composition and there was no evidence of a lower-than-expected RMR in NWCR subjects. The regression line relating FFM and RMR was not different for the two groups, which suggests that RMR in our reduced-obese subjects was not inappropriately low.

It is possible that the extremely high levels of physical activity seen in NWCR subjects may be masking a low RMR. Van Dale et al (48) found that subjects who engaged in regular exercise during and following weight loss had a "normal" RMR relative to body mass, whereas those who did not exercise had a lower-than-predicted RMR relative to body mass. It should be noted, however, that in our study (56), the matched control subjects were reporting high levels of physical activity, similar to those reported by NWCR subjects.

The controversy in this area continues. In NWCR subjects, we failed to find any evidence of a greater "metabolic efficiency" or a "metabolic impairment." Although increased metabolic efficiency might occur in some subjects, it does not seem to be an obligatory consequence of weight loss. It is possible that some of the differences between studies may reflect heterogeneity between reduced-obese subjects. It is also likely that other methodological issues contribute to different results. We know little, for example, about how the method of weight reduction (large versus small deficit, exercise versus no exercise), the amount of weight loss, or the duration of weight loss maintenance affect the metabolic state of the reduced-obese individual. Part of the problem has been getting access to enough long-term successes to study how these factors impact metabolism after weight loss.

Fat Oxidation in the Reduced-Obese State Because achieving body weight maintenance requires achieving fat balance, an alteration in the ability to use fat as a fuel could be a factor in predisposing reduced-obese subjects to regain weight. Given that it is affected by many dietary factors and by physical activity,

assessment of substrate oxidation is not easy. Several investigators have reported that reduced-obese subjects may have a higher respiratory quotient (RQ), indicative of a lower rate of fat oxidation, than do control subjects. Larson et al (25) reported a higher adjusted 24-h RQ in formerly obese subjects than in matched control subjects who had not lost weight. Astrup et al (1) found lower rates of fat oxidation in formerly obese subjects compared with controls while both groups were consuming high-fat diets.

In the NWCR we found registry members had a slightly higher (0.807 versus 0.791, P = 0.05) fasting RQ than a control group of nonreduced individuals (56). However, the usual diet NWCR subjects reported consuming was lower in fat than that of the control subjects. Because usual fat oxidation is positively correlated with usual fat intake, it is not clear whether the lower fat oxidation seen in NWCR subjects reflects an altered metabolic state or simply an altered diet.

Thus, although there are consistent reports of a higher RQ (i.e. lower fat oxidation) in reduced-obese subjects, the question remains as to whether this indicates an impairment in or a reduced capacity for fat oxidation. It remains a distinct possibility, however, that a low rate of fat oxidation in reduced-obese subjects could predispose them to weight gain, especially when they consume high-fat diets.

Insulin Resistance as a Contributor to Weight Regain The role of insulin resistance in weight gain is also controversial. Several studies have shown that within a population, those who are most insulin sensitive at baseline will gain the most weight (13, 43, 47), although this finding is not consistent across all populations (14). Similarly, there are inconsistent findings related to whether insulin sensitivity predicts weight regain. Yost et al (59) reported that in 10 moderately obese women, changes in insulin sensitivity (determined using a euglycemic clamp) following a 3-month period of weight loss and a 3-month period of weight maintenance were positively correlated with subsequent weight gain at 12 and 18 months. The authors hypothesized that the increased insulin sensitivity produced a decrease in skeletal muscle lipid oxidation, directing lipid toward storage in adipose tissue. In contrast, Wing (53) examined this relationship in two groups of subjects who participated in a 3- to 6-month weight loss program. In 125 nondiabetic subjects, changes in neither fasting insulin nor insulin levels in response to a glucose load were significantly related to subsequent weight regain. Similarly, insulin sensitivity measured using Bergman's minimal model was not related to subsequent weight regain in 33 diabetic subjects. The inconsistency across studies may relate to differences in study population, methods of assessing insulin sensitivity, and/or duration of the weight maintenance phase. Furthermore, all the studies reported changes in body weight (rather than fat mass), and none reported changes in physical activity levels, an important determinant of insulin sensitivity. Thus, whether insulin sensitivity plays a role in weight regain following a period of weight loss remains to be determined. Studies of rats provided with an obesity-producing diet have not, in general, found insulin sensitivity to predict weight gain (34). Currently we have no data on insulin sensitivity among NWCR subjects.

Low Leptin as a Factor in Weight Regain It has recently been suggested that low leptin levels may exist in reduced-obese subjects and may be a factor in propensity to regain weight (7). In this study, leptin levels were positively correlated with body fat mass in a group of eight reduced-obese and eight control subjects. However, leptin levels were lower in the reduced-obese subjects. Reduced-obese subjects also had a lower rate of fat oxidation than did the control subjects. Nagy et al (30), however, found the leptin levels were not related to weight regain over a 4-year period in 14 postmenopausal women. Furthermore, Wing et al (55) reported that leptin levels decreased along with body weight during obesity treatment and that neither baseline levels nor changes in serum leptin predicted weight regain. Leptin levels drop with weight loss, and the initial drop may be greater than the drop in fat mass (36). The important question for weight loss maintenance is whether the relationship between circulating leptin levels and body fat mass is altered significantly from baseline after weight loss and weight stabilization. It is important to point out that the question can only be answered if a period of weight stabilization precedes measurements. We are currently collecting data on circulating leptin levels in NWCR subjects.

The Metabolic State of NWCR Subjects

In summary, we have not been able to document a clear metabolic state consistent with the notion of increased "metabolic efficiency" in reduced-obese subjects. It is certainly possible that the high levels of physical activity seen in NWCR subjects may be "masking" this metabolic predisposition to regain weight. Alternatively, it is possible that NWCR subjects do not exhibit such a metabolic predisposition and that their success is due to permanent behavior changes of the kind generally recommended in weight loss programs.

Behavioral Factors in Long-Term Weight Loss Maintenance

Although we have not clearly identified metabolic factors important for long-term weight loss maintenance, we have identified behavioral factors that seem to predict success. These include eating a diet low in fat, self-monitoring body weight and food intake, and engaging in high levels of physical activity. We believe that the current population recommendations to reduce dietary fat are consistent with success in weight loss maintenance. Our subjects report 24% of total energy from fat, and many recommendations to the public are to reduce dietary fat below 30%. It is possible that a recommendation of 25% of energy from fat would be a better recommendation for persons maintaining a weight loss, but insufficient data exist to support such a public health recommendation. Our data would, however, argue strongly against any increases in the amount of dietary fat recommended to the public.

Self-monitoring has been recognized as a useful behavior during weight loss, and data obtained from the NWCR suggests that this is a useful behavior to continue during weight maintenance.

Finally, high levels of physical activity seem to be associated with long-term weight maintenance. Although the exact way in which physical activity helps with successful weight loss maintenance is not fully understood, it does seem that a high degree of regular physical activity is a key to the success of the subjects in the registry. Data from the NWCR suggest that the optimal amount of physical activity to maintain weight loss may be about 1 h/day, or an expenditure of approximately 2500–3000 kcal/week. Others have reported results similar to these. Schoeller et al (37) found that the relationship between the amount of physical activity and the prevention of weight regain was not linear. They found that a threshold value of 11 kcal/kg of body weight was necessary to prevent weight regain. This value roughly translates into the addition of 1.3 h of such moderate activity as brisk walking per day, or 0.6 h of vigorous activity per day. More recently, Jakicic et al (16) found that after weight loss, 200 min or more of physical activity per week was associated with continued weight maintenance, whereas less physical activity was associated with weight gain in a dose-dependent fashion.

Taken together, this body of literature in obese-reduced subjects suggests that our physical activity goals for weight management programs may need to be substantially higher than the physical activity recommendations to the general population. It is important to realize that the current physical activity guidelines for the population were developed to optimize cardiovascular health and were not based on prevention of weight gain. Although we have substantial data to suggest that regular physical activity protects against weight gain in nonobese individuals (12), we do not have a good database on which to develop specific physical activity guidelines to prevent weight gain. Developing such a database should be a high priority.

PSYCHOLOGICAL CONSEQUENCES OF SUCCESSFUL WEIGHT LOSS MAINTENANCE

Concern has been raised that weight loss, and the vigilance required to maintain weight loss long-term, may be associated with increased risk of eating disorders or depression symptomatology. This concern stems in large part from the study by Keys et al (21) of semistarvation in normal-weight young men. In their study, weight losses of approximately 25% of initial weight were achieved in these normal-weight individuals. Such weight losses were associated with extreme negative psychological reactions and, in a subgroup, short periods of binge eating. The important question is whether the more-modest weight losses (10% of body weight) that typically occur in overweight persons produce such negative effects. This literature was recently reviewed by the National Task Force on the Prevention and Treatment of Obesity (32). They concluded that participants in behavioral weight loss programs typically experience improvements in symptoms of depression or anxiety with weight loss, regardless of whether the weight loss is produced by moderate diets, very-low-calorie diets, or weight loss medications.

Before weight loss programs, participants typically report levels of dysphoria in the nondepressed range; these levels are further reduced with weight loss. Binge eaters, who enter treatment with higher levels of depressive symptomatology, experience greater improvements with weight loss. Likewise, both binge eaters and nonbinge eaters who participate in weight loss programs that utilize a balanced diet with moderate caloric restriction experience reduction in binge eating episodes. Rather than precipitating binge eating (a common concern), such programs appear to ameliorate this problem. Three studies (44, 49, 58) have evaluated the effect of very-low-calorie diets and subsequent refeeding on binge eating. In two of the three (49, 58), there was no adverse effect of the very-low-calorie diet on binge eating, but the third study did suggest a temporary increase in binge eating in those who were nonbingers at baseline (44). Methodological issues related to the assessment of binge eating in this study make it difficult to interpret the results.

Likewise, no adverse psychological effects of weight loss have been observed in the NWCR (23). At entry into the registry, members are asked to complete the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), the Symptom-Checklist-90-R, and selected questions from the Eating Disorders Examination related to binge eating and purging. Scores on these assessments were compared with findings in the literature for relevant comparison groups (including those with psychiatric disorders, obese patients, nondieting control subjects, and random samples of the US population).

Registry participants reported an average CES-D score of 9.2 (range 0–52); 18% of registry participants scored >16, the cutoff used to distinguish "cases" for nondepressed individuals. These findings are similar to nondepressed community control subjects (who have mean CES-D scores of 4.1–10.4, with 21% of individuals reporting scores >16). In contrast, studies of clinically depressed patients have mean scores of 13–38 on the CES-D, with over 70% of individuals scoring >16. Registry participants also appear similar to obese and nonobese community samples on the Global Symptoms Index of the SCL-90-R.

Rates of binge eating and vomiting were also very low in registry members; 8% reported four or more binges/month, and only 1.8% reported any episodes in the preceding month of vomiting for weight loss purposes. These results are strikingly lower than what is observed in eating-disordered populations.

In addition, participants in the registry are asked to indicate whether weight loss has resulted in improvement, worsening, or no change in various aspects of their life (22). As shown in Table 2, the vast majority of individuals report positive changes in all aspects. Over 90% of the sample reported improvement in their overall quality of life, level of energy, mobility, general mood, and self-confidence.

There are only two areas where any substantial worsening due to weight loss was noted. Fourteen percent of registry members reported worsening in time spent thinking about food (49% reported improvement in this regard) and 20% reported worsening in time spent thinking about their weight (51% reported improvement in this regard). Thus overall weight loss maintenance appears to produce marked improvements in quality of life for the majority of individuals.

TABLE 2 Effect of weight loss on other areas of life^a

Determinant	Improved	No difference	Worse
Quality of life	95.3	4.3	0.4
Level of energy	92.4	6.7	0.9
Mobility	92.3	7.1	0.6
General mood	91.4	6.9	1.6
Self-confidence	90.9	9.0	0.1
Physical health	85.8	12.9	1.3
Interactions with opposite sex same sex strangers Time spent	65.2 50.2 69.5	32.9 46.8 30.4	0.9 0.4 0.1
interacting with others	59.1	39.6	1.3
Job performance	54.5	45.0	0.6
Other hobbies	49.1	36.7	0.4
Interactions with parents	32.8	65.0	2.2
Interactions with spouse	56.3	37.3	5.9
Time spent thinking about food	49.1	36.7	14.2
weight	51.0	28.6	20.4

 $^{a}N = 784$. Results indicate percentage.

FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH WEIGHT REGAIN

Registry members are followed over time to try to identify variables related to continued success (28). Over 1 year of follow-up, 35% of registry participants regained 5 lbs or more, 59% maintained their weight loss, and 6% lost additional weight. Baseline characteristics that increased the risk of regain included more recent weight loss (fewer than 2 years versus more than 2 years), larger weight losses (>30% of maximum weight versus <30%), and higher levels of depression, disinhibition, and binge eating at entry into the registry. These findings are of interest, particularly the duration effect. It appears that the first few years after weight loss are the most vulnerable period for weight regain. Maintaining ones weight loss for 2–5 years decreased the risk of subsequent regain by 50%. Thus, individuals who succeed in maintaining their weight loss for

more than 2 years have a markedly improved chance of continuing to maintain it long-term.

Regainers were also characterized by several key behavior changes that occurred over the year of follow-up and distinguished them from maintainers. Gainers increased their fat intake, whereas maintainers kept theirs consistent. Both groups reported decreases in physical activity, but the regainers had greater decreases: expending approximately 800 fewer kcal/week compared with 400 kcal/week in the maintainers. Gainers also reported decreases in their level of dietary restraint and increases in disinhibition (i.e. loss of control while eating). These findings confirm the importance of the behavior changes described in earlier sections of this chapter for the long-term maintenance of weight loss.

SUMMARY

It is important that a consensus be reached on a definition for successful weight loss maintenance. Our recommendation is that an intentional weight loss of greater than or equal to 10% of initial body weight that is maintained at least 1 year be considered success. According to this definition, approximately 20% or more of individuals who attempt weight loss would be "successful." Although the NWCR does not provide information about how many people achieve long-term weight loss success, it does provide information about strategies used to achieve and maintain a weight loss. With regard to weight loss, the most obvious conclusion from the NWCR is that weight loss should include both changing diet and increasing physical activity. We do not, however, see any particular type of diet modification to achieve the weight loss that is common to these successful weight loss maintainers.

We believe that strategies for weight loss maintenance may be the key to longterm weight management success. We find three behaviors in a vast majority of NWCR subjects. First, these subjects engage in high levels of physical activity. The amount of physical activity that facilitates successful weight loss maintenance may be closer to 1 h/day rather than the 30 min three times per week suggested in recommendations to the general public. Consequently, we may need to increase our physical activity goals in obesity treatment programs. Second, these subjects report eating a diet low in fat and high in carbohydrate. We believe this is important information given the oscillating nature of popular diet books regarding optimum macronutrient composition for weight loss. Third, these subjects report regular selfmonitoring of weight. Maintaining a substantial weight loss may be a long-term challenge, and it may be important to have access to information about success. This may be particularly important in terms of initiating early strategies to stop weight regain. Currently, the data seem to suggest that differences in behavior are stronger predictors of weight regain than the differences in physiology or metabolism. Further research with frequent assessments of behavior and metabolic parameters may be helpful in determining which set of factors is most strongly related to long-term maintenance of weight loss.

Part of the reasons for developing the NWCR was to counter the belief that "no one succeeds long-term at weight loss." We believe the subjects in the NWCR show that you can achieve and maintain substantial amounts of weight loss. Furthermore, we have found that these subjects live "normal" lives after weight loss and consistently report that life is better after weight loss. Our subjects tell us that their success requires substantial effort but that it is worth it. Finally, our data suggest that over time, it does get easier to maintain weight loss. It may be a lifelong struggle, but once you have maintained a weight loss for 2–5 years, the chances of longer-term success greatly increase.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We express our gratitude to Drs. Mary Lou Klem, Maureen McGuire, Holly Wyatt, and Helen Seagle for assistance in these studies. The work described here was supported in part by NIH grants DK42529 (JOH), DK48520 (JOH), and HL41330 (RRW).

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at www.AnnualReviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Astrup A, Buemann B, Christensen NJ, Toubro S. 1994. Failure to increase lipid oxidation in response to increasing dietary fat content in formerly obese women. Am. J. Physiol. 266:E592–99
- Astrup A, Gotzsch PC, van de Werken K, Ranneries C, Toubro S, et al. 1999. Metaanalysis of resting metabolic rate in formerly obese subjects. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 69:1117– 22
- Baker RC, Kirschenbaum DS. 1993. Selfmonitoring may be necessary for successful weight control. *Behav. Ther.* 24:377– 94
- Bartlett SJ, Faith MS, Fontaine KR, Cheskin LJ, Allison DB. 1999. Is the prevalence of successful weight loss and maintenance higher in the general community than the research clinic? *Obes. Res.* 7:407–13
- 5. Brownell KD. 1993. Whether obesity should be treated. *Health Psychol*. 12:339–41
- Brownell KD, Rodin J. 1994. Medical, metabolic, and psychological effects of weight cycling. Arch. Int. Med. 154:1325– 30

- Filozof CM, Murua C, Sanchez MP, Brailovsky C, Perman M, et al. 2000. Low plasma leptin concentrations and low rate of fat oxidation in weight-stable post-obese subjects. Obes. Res. 8:205–10
- French SA, Jeffery RW, Forster JL, Mc-Govern PG, Kelder SH, Baxter J. 1994.
 Predictors of weight change over two years among a population of working adults: The Healthy Worker Project. *Int. J. Obes.* 18:145–54
- Goran MI, Shewchuk R, Gower BA, Nagy TR, Carpenter WH, Johnson RK. 1998. Longitudinal changes in fatness in white children: no effect of childhood energy expenditure. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 67:309–16
- Guare JC, Wing RR, Marcus MD, Epstein LH, Burton LR, Gooding WE. 1989.
 Analysis of changes in eating behavior and weight loss in type II diabetic patients. *Diabetes Care* 12:500–3
- Harris JK, French SA, Jeffery RW, McGovern PG, Wing RR. 1994. Dietary and physical activity correlates of long-term weight loss. *Obes. Res.* 2:307–13

- 12. Hill JO, Melanson E. 1995. Overview of the determinants of overweight and obesity: current evidence and research issues. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 31:S515–21
- Hoag S, Marshall JA, Jones RH, Hamman RF. 1995. High fasting insulin levels associated with lower rates of weight gain in persons with normal glucose tolerance: the San Luis Valley Diabetes Study. *Int. J. Obes.* 19:175–80
- 14. Hodge AM, Dowse GK, Alberti KG, Tuomilehto J, Gareeboo H, Zimmet PZ. 1996. Relationship of insulin resistance to weight gain in nondiabetic Asian Indian, Creole, and Chinese Mauritians. Mauritius Non-Communicable Disease Study Group. Metabolism 45:627–33
- Holden JH, Darga LL, Olson SM, Stettner DC, Ardito EA, Lucas CP. 1992.
 Long-term follow-up of patients attending a combination very-low calorie diet and behaviour therapy weight loss programme.
 Int. J. Obes. 16:605–13
- 16. Jakicic JM, Winters C, Lang W, Wing RR. 1999. Effects of intermittent exercise and use of home exercise equipment on adherence, weight loss, and fitness in overweight women: a randomized trial. *JAMA* 282:1554–60
- 17. Jeffery RW, Bjornson-Benson WM, Rosenthal BS, Kurth CL, Dunn MM. 1984. Effectiveness of monetary contracts with two repayment schedules on weight reduction in men and women from selfreferred and population samples. *Prev. Med.* 15:273–79
- Kassirer J, Angell M. 1998. Losing weight: an ill-fated New Year's resolution. N. Engl. J. Med. 338:52
- Katahn M, Pleas J, Thackery M, Wallston KA. 1982. Relationship of eating and activity self-reports to follow-up weight maintenance in the massively obese. *Behav. Ther.* 13:521–28
- Kayman S, Bruvold W, Stern JS. 1990.
 Maintenance and relapse after weight loss

- in women: behavioral aspects. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 52:800–7
- Keys A, Brozek J, Henschel A, Mickelsen O, Taylor HL. 1950. The Biology of Human Starvation. Minneapolis: Univ. Minn. Press
- Klem ML, Wing RR, McGuire MT, Seagle HM, Hill JO. 1997. A descriptive study of individuals successful at long-term maintenance of substantial weight loss. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 66:239–46
- Klem ML, Wing RR, McGuire MT, Seagle HM, Hill JO. 1998. Psychological symptoms in individuals successful at long-term maintenance of weight loss. *Health Psychol.* 17:336–45
- Kramer FM, Jeffery RW, Forster JL, Snell MK. 1989. Long-term follow-up of behavioral treatment for obesity: patterns of weight regain among men and women. *Int. J. Obes.* 13:123–36
- Larson DE, Ferraro RT, Robertson DS, Ravussin E. 1995. Energy metabolism in weight-stable postobese individuals. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 62:735–39
- Leibel RL, Rosenbaum M, Hirsch J. 1995.
 Changes in energy expenditure resulting from altered body weight. N. Engl. J. Med. 332:621–28
- McGuire M, Wing R, Hill J. 1999. The prevalence of weight loss maintenance among American adults. *Int. J. Obes.* 23:1314–19
- McGuire MT, Wing RR, Klem ML, Lang W, Hill JO. 1999. What predicts weight regain among a group of successful weight losers? J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 67:177– 85
- McGuire MT, Wing RR, Klem ML, Hill JO. 1999. Behavioral strategies of individuals who have maintained long-term weight losses. Obes. Res. 7:334–41
- Nagy TR, Davies SL, Hunter GR, Darnell B, Weinsier RL. 1998. Serum leptin concentrations and weight gain in postobese postmenopausal women. *Obes. Res.* 6: 257–61

- Natl. Inst. Health, Natl. Heart Lung Blood Inst. 1998. Clinical guidelines on the identification, evaluation and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults—the evidence report. *Obes. Res.* 6:51–209S
- Natl. Taskforce Prev. Treat. Obes. 2000.
 Dieting and the development of eating disorders in overweight and obese adults.
 Arch. Int. Med. 160:2581–89
- Paffenbarger RS Jr, Wing AL, Hyde RT. 1978. Physical activity as an index of heart attack risk in college alumni. Am. J. Epidemiol. 108:161–75
- Pagliassotti MJ, Gayles EC, Hill JO. 1997.
 Dietary fat and energy balance. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 827:431–48
- Ravusssin E, Lillioja S, Anderson TE, Christin L, Bogardus C. 1986. Determinants of 24-hour energy expenditure in man: methods and results using a respiratory chamber. J. Clin. Invest. 78:1568–78
- Rosenbaum M, Nicolson M, Hirsch J, Murphy E, Chu F, Leibel R. 1997. Effects of weight change on plasma leptin concentrations and energy expenditure. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 82:3647–54
- Schoeller DA, Shay K, Kushner RF. 1997. How much physical activity is needed to minimize weight gain in previously obese women? Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 66:551–56
- Seidell JC, Muller DC, Sorkin JD, Andres R. 1992. Fasting respiratory exchange ratio and resting metabolic rate as predictors of weight gain: the Baltimore Longitudinal Study on Aging. *Int. J. Obes.* 16:667–74
- Serdula MK, Mokdad AH, Williamson DF, Galuska DA, Mendlein JM, Heath GW. 1999. Prevalence of attempting weight loss and strategies for controlling weight. *JAMA* 282:1353–58
- Shick SM, Wing RR, Klem ML, McGuire MT, Hill JO, Seagle HM. 1998. Persons successful at long-term weight loss and maintenance continue to consume a lowenergy, low-fat diet. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 98:408–13
- 41. Stalonas PM, Kirschenbaum DS. 1985.

- Behavioral treatment for obesity: eating habits revisited. *Behav. Ther.* 16:1–14
- Stunkard AJ, McLaren-Hume M. 1959.
 The results of treatment for obesity. Arch. Int. Med. 103:79–85
- Swinburn BA, Nyomba BL, Saad MF, Zurlo F, Raz I, et al. 1991. Insulin resistance associated with lower rates of weight gain in Pima Indians. J. Clin. Invest. 88:168–73
- 44. Telch CF, Agras WS. 1993. The effects of a very low calorie diet on binge eating. *Behav. Ther.* 24:177–93
- Thompson HR, Bear SL, Seagle HM, Klem ML, McGuire MT, et al. 1997. Exercise behaviors in reduced-obese subjects in the National Weight Control Registry. Obes. Res. 5:84S (Abstr.)
- US Dep. Health Hum. Serv. 1996. Physical Activity and Health: A Report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA: US Dep. Health Hum. Serv., Cent. Dis. Control Prev, Natl. Cent. Chronic Dis. Prev. Promot.
- Valdez R, Mitchell BD, Haffner SM, Hazuda HP, Morales PA, et al. 1994. Predictors of weight change in a bi-ethnic population. The San Antonio Heart Study. *Int. J. Obes.* 18:85–91
- 48. Van Dale D, Saris WHM, Ten Hoor F. 1990. Weight maintenance and restring metabolic rate 18–40 months after a dietexercise treatment. *Int. J. Obes.* 14:347–59
- 49. Wadden TA, Foster GD, Letizia KA. 1994. One-year behavioral treatment of obesity: comparison of moderate and severe caloric restriction and the effects of weight maintenance therapy. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 62:165–71
- Wadden TA, Foster GD, Letizia KA, Mullen JL. 1990. Long-term effects of dieting on resting metabolic rate in obese outpatients. *JAMA* 264:707–11
- Wadden TA, Sternberg JA, Letizia KA, Stunkard AJ, Foster GD. 1989. Treatment of obesity by very low calorie diet, behaviour therapy, and their combination: a five-year perspective. *Int. J. Obes.* 13:39– 46

- 52. Weinsier RL, Nelson KM, Hensrud DD, Darnell BE, Hunter GR, Schutz Y. 1995 Metabolic predictors of obesity. Contribution of resting energy expenditure, thermic effect of food, and fuel utilization to four-year weight gain of post-obese and never-obese women. J. Clin. Invest. 95:980–85
- 53. Wing RR. 1997. Insulin sensitivity as a predictor of weight regain. *Obes. Res.* 5:24–29
- Wing RR, Epstein LH. 1981. Prescribed level of caloric restriction in behavioral weight loss programs. Addict. Behav. 6:139–44
- 55. Wing RR, Sinha M, Considine R, Lang W, Caro J. 1996. Relationship between weight loss maintenance and changes in serum leptin levels. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 28:698– 703

- Wyatt HR, Grunwald GK, Seagle HM, Klem ML, McGuire MT, et al. 1999. Resting energy expenditure in reduced-obese subjects in the National Weight Control Registry. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 69:1189–93
- 57. Wyatt HR, Seagle HM, Grunwald GK, Bell ML, Klem ML, et al. 2000. Long-term weight and very low carbohydrate diets in the National Weight Control Registry. *Obes. Res.* 8:87S (Abstr.)
- Yanovski SZ, Gormally JF, Leser MS, Gwirtsman HE, Yanovski JA. 1994. Binge eating disorder affects outcome of comprehensive very-low-calorie diet treatment. Obes. Res. 2:205–12
- Yost TJ, Jensen DR, Eckel RH. 1995.
 Weight regain following sustained weight reduction is predicted by relative insulin sensitivity. Obes. Res. 3:583–87